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P reface

THIS BOOK IS AN INTRODUCTION TO A FASCINATING, BUT
generally ignored, field of study. These pages make no
pretense at being a history of the Pacific Northwest; nor
do they constitute a history of the Catholic Church in
the Pacific Northwest; finally, they do little more than
indicate the rich story, yet to be fully told, of the con-
tribution made to the religious, social, and intellectual
betterment of this area by the members of the Society of
Jesus.

Those scholars with sufficient background to formu-
late an opinion will admit that the history of the Pacific
Northwest has been neglected until quite recent years.
Still less has been written concerning the role of Catholic
missionaries in the exploration, settlement, and educa-
tional development of this important region of the
United States. The present work is intended as a partial
rectification of such an undesirable state of affairs.

A word about the general plan of the book may not
be out of place. Material has been grouped geographi-
cally rather than chronologically. Many events hap-
pened almost simultaneously in widely separated places,
thus furnishing excellent grounds for the confusion of
anyone attempting a historical reconstruction of scenes
long past. Therefore, the foundations and activities of
a limited territorial area are treated together. The result
of this type of arrangement is not completely satisfac-
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tory, but it does avoid the muddle consequent upon any
attempt to compress the story of a century into a few
hundred pages and at the same time retain an unbroken
chronological order.

Like many others, this book is a co-operative venture.
To many people the author is under obligation for their
patience and assistance. Especially to the Very Reverend
Leo J. Robinson, S.J., Rev. William G. Elliott, S.]J., and
Rev. Paul P. Sauer, S.]., for granting the opportunities
for study; to William A. Laney, S.J., Rev. Adolph A.
Bischoff, S.J., and some of my former students, who are
now serving our nation in the Armed Forces, for un-
stinted help in collecting historical material. Special
thanks, too, are due to Rev. Andrew Vachon, S.J., for
the frontispiece and the design for the jacket. The
laborious task of reading and criticizing the manuscript
has been generously performed by Rev. David P. Mc-
Astocker, S.J., William T. Costello, S.J., and Mr. Philip
N. Starbuck. To the latter the writer is especially obli-
gated. The careful compilation and delineation of the
maps by Rev. Jerome V. Jacobsen, S.J., and Richard M.
O’Brien, elicit the author’s sincere thanks. The con-
sideration shown by the publishers is gratefully acknowl-
edged. Finally, the author thanks Rev. William L. Davis,
S.J., scholar and friend, whose counsel and encourage-
ment have never been withheld. Lack of space prevents
individual mention of each service rendered by those
companions who have helped in countless ways, but the
author is none the less deeply grateful for their assistance.

For permission to quote or paraphrase copyrighted
material, indicated in the bibliography, the writer is
indebted to the following: the Most Reverend Joseph F.
McGrath, D.D., Bishop of Baker City, Oregon; The
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American Catholic Historical Society; Benziger Broth-
ers; Bureau of Catholic Indian Missions; P. J. Kenedy &
Sons; The Catholic Sentinel; Little, Brown and Com-
pany; The Messenger of the Sacred Heart; The Pacific
Northwest Quarterly; Saint Anthony Guild Press; and
The Wickersham Printing Company.

In making these acknowledgments the writer, of
course, assumes all responsibility for the contents and
conclusions of this book.

W.N.B.,S.J.

Chicago, Illinois
November 9, 1943
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Introduction

THE PLACES MENTIONED IN THIS VOLUME ARE WELL
known, and many of the men whose names loom large on
these pages are familiar to me, some of them being per-
sonal friends and comrades.

Those of us who came from British Columbia and at-
tended Gonzaga University were bound, sooner or later,
to meet the dynamic little missionary, Father Folchi. As
the author accurately testifies, conductors and engineers
did his bidding graciously and joyously. Even the rail-
road’s owner, James J. Hill, received not the deep devo-
tion and sincerity bestowed on Father Folchi.

Then there was Father George de la Motte, the noble-
man, the intellectual giant—above all else, the missionary
par excellence. Because of his mastery over the various
Indian languages, he was in. great demand. Whenever a
resident missionary took sick, Father de la Motte, though
burdened with many responsibilities as superior of the
missions, would set out immediately to supply for the
sick priest. Possibly the last letter Father George de la
Motte wrote was the one in which he told us that, if we
obtained the necessary permission, he would gladly act as
instructor. We were filled with enthusiasm. What a
glorious privilege to make tertianship alone at St. Igna-
tius with Father de la Motte as Tertian Master! But this
was not to be. A few days later, on Good Friday, came
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xvi INTRODUCTION

news of his death. Thus passed a gallant soldier of the
Cross.

We lived with the founder of Saint Paul Mission for
four years at Havre, Montana. Father Eberschweiler
loved to recall the old days. It was he who worked so
strenuously to stop Louis Riel from arousing the Indians
of Canada to revolt, but his efforts were in vain.

The good old Padre used to describe how one day he
met Riel, riding on horseback with two companions,
between Fort Benton and Saint Paul Mission. The Father
(on horseback too) stopped the trio, and strove once
more to forestall the inevitable. “Supposing you win
every battle, but in each engagement you lose fifty men
—then you will ultimately be defeated.”

“Father Eberschweiler, you are a good man, but you
have not been obliged to endure the many injustices
which the Indians to the north of you have suffered. I
tell you finally, I intend to go through with the revolt.”

At this juncture, Father Eberschweiler rode away a
distance with one of Riel’s companions and heard his
confession. When the two returned to meet the two
who awaited them, Riel was in a pensive mood. Looking
across the gully and up the adjacent hill, Riel said,
“Father Eberschweiler, I see a gallows on top of that hill
and I am swinging from it.”

Riel’s prophecy proved correct. He was hanged after-
ward in Regina. One of Riel’s companions on that trip
escaped into Montana and visited the good Padre. He
was unharmed, except for a2 wound from a bullet that
had plowed its way (as one parts his hair in the middle)
from forehead to the back of the skull. Outside of a
certain amount of disfigurement, no permanent injury
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was incurred. He attributed his miraculous escape to the
efficacious prayers of the Father.

Here again we are falling into the same mistake as
Father Eberschweiler: we are musing over the past,
dreaming of former days when the West was young and
as illimitable as the broad wind-swept prairies.

Father Bischoff’s volume will aid you, kind reader, in
reconstructing this adventurous and interesting era.

Davmp P. MCASTOCKER, S.J.
Riverside, California
November 8, 1941
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A Call for Blackrobes

A CENTURY AGO THE OREGON COUNTRY WAS, FOR MOST
people, that vast, indefinite, and undetermined land
which lay west of the Rocky Mountains, north of Span-
ish California, and south of the Russian establishments.
These boundaries were soon to be more carefully drawn.
But for the ordinary person, many years were to pass
before the Oregon Country came to be considered as a
possible place in which to make one’s home. Traders,
trappers, squaw men, and fugitives might well—and did
—call this terrifying region home. For most others, it
was the most primitive of lands—a land of savages, of
boundless deserts, of towering peaks, of plunging tor-
rents. Here one had to struggle against conspiring ele-
ments and prowling natives to eke out the meanest
existence.

Yet to this forbidding region the Catholic missionaries
were invited by both natives and whites. To this invita-
tion they responded with enthusiasm. Gladly they under-
took perilous posts where those who would do God’s
work could depend on God alone for help and protection.

The Jesuits were not the first priests to bring the Cath-
olic religion to Oregon. As a matter of historical fact, the
Franciscan Friars had preceded by fifty years any of
those priests about whom this narrative deals. The re-
mains of the Spanish Franciscan missions were seen and

described by Father J. B. Bolduc when he arrived in
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2 THE JESUITS IN OLD OREGON

Oregon in 1842.' A second point to be kept in mind is
that the first to spread the tidings of the Catholic faith
to the interior tribes were the trappers and other em-
ployees of the different fur companies established in the
country beyond the mountains. We shall see that these
employees, or those already retired from the fur com-
panies, were white men, as well as half-breeds and In-
dians, and that each was to play a significant role in the
story. These venturesome souls had learned their religion
in Montreal or Quebec, and, though they were Catholics
at heart, often enough their lives left much to be desired.

These voyageurs, as they came to be known, were
much in evidence in the expedition of Lewis and Clark
in 1805; they were even more prominent in the fur
brigade of John Jacob Astor in 1811. The skill, endur-
ance, and bravery of these Canadians made them the
most-sought-for canoemen in the world. So renowned
for their skill and prowess, they were also great home
builders. Thus, the founders of the first American settle-
ment in Oregon soon became the first settlers in the
Willamette Valley. “In Astor’s expedition there were
thirteen Canadians nearly all of whom were Catholics,

..”% To this nucleus of the future Catholic settle-
ment there was added a number of former employees of
the Hudson’s Bay Company at Fort Vancouver. Upon
the expiration of their term of service, Dr. John Mc-
Loughlin supplied them with the provisions and farming
implements which made it possible for them to settle in
the Willamette Valley.

These people begged Joseph Norbert Provencher,
Titular Bishop of Juliopolis, with headquarters at Red
River, Manitoba, to quiet their yearnings by sending a
pastor for their little flock.® Replying on June 6, 1835,
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to the repeated petition of the faithful, the prelate
acknowledged the receipt of the request for missionaries
and assured Dr. John McLoughlin:

My intention is to do all I can to grant them their request as soon as
possible, I have no priest disposable at Red River, but I am going this
year to Europe, and I will endeavor to procure those free people, and
then the Indians afterwards[,] the means of knowing God. I send
together with this letter an answer to the petition which I have
received; I request you to deliver it to them; . . . *

The Bishop’s answer to the petitions is filled with sympa-
thy and fatherly exhortation:

I have received, most beloved brethren, your two petitions, one
dated 3d July 1834, and the other 23d February 1835. Both call for
missionaries to instruct your children and yourselves. Such a request
from persons deprived of all religious attendance, could not fail to
touch my heart, and if it was in my power, I would send you some
this very year. But I have no priests disposable at Red River; They
must be obtained from Canada or elsewhere, which requires time.
I will make it my business in a journey which I am going to make this
year in Canada and in Europe. If I succeed in my efforts I will soon
send you some help.5

Their venerable friend then exhorted the petitioners to
lead Christian lives, that their children as well as the In-
dians might learn the Christian religion from their ex-
ample even before the missionaries could arrive. They
should begin now to prepare their souls for the teachings
that would be brought by the missionaries.

My greatest consolation [concludes the Bishop] would be to learn

hereafter that as soon as this letter was read to you, you began to pay
a little more attention to the great affair of your salvation.®

The course of events proved amply that Bishop Pro-
vencher sincerely and seriously intended to do all he
could for these neglected people who lived in the primi-
tive solitude.
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Where rolls the Oregon, and heats no sound
Save his own dashings—

He appealed for aid to his confrere, Joseph Signay,
Bishop of Quebec.” There followed months of negotia-
tion, months of planning, months of disappointment and
discouragement. The Hudson’s Bay Company con-
trolled all means of communication from Canada to
Oregon. The company also dominated in the name of
the Crown the future home of the hopeful missionaries
and the zealous followers of Christ, whoever they would
be, must prove satisfactory to the officials.

Finally, the long-awaited letter containing the needed
permissions reached Bishop Signay. Bishop Provencher
had agreed that the new mission should be established on
the Cowlitz north of the Columbia River, according to
the advice given him by George Simpson in the pre-
ceding year. The Bishop’s gracious acceptance of Simp-
son’s suggestions made it an easy matter to obtain passage
for two priests in the canoes of the westbound brigade
which would leave for the interior on April 25, 1838.
The two priests were to embark at Lachine and, on ar-
rival at Fort Vancouver, measures would “be taken by
the Co.’s representative there to facilitate the establishing
of the mission, and the carrying into effect the objects
thereof generally.””®

Events now followed rapidly. Father Francis Norbert
Blanchet, Curé of Les Cedres, was given letters of vicar-
general, under date of April 17, 1838.° His companion,
Father Modeste Demers, was awaiting him at Red
River.’ The instructions of Bishop Signay to the brave
missionaries were realistic and comprehensive:

You must consider as the first object of your mission to withdraw
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from barbarity and the disorders which it produces, the Indians
scattered in that country.

Your second object is, to tender your services to the wicked
Christians who have adopted there the vices of the Indians, and live
in licentiousness and the forgetfulness of their duties.!

The priests were to preach the gospel in private and in
public. To multiply their efficiency, they were to learn
the native tongues as soon as possible. They were to bap-
tize those sufficiently instructed, that they might rectify
the most disgraceful condition on the frontier: irregular
unions between whites and natives. The education of
children was to be carried on in established schools “as
much as your means will allow.” Finally, in the more
important places more crosses were to be planted, “so as
to take possession of those various places in the name of
the Catholic religion.”*?

These instructions were brief enough. Any one of
them would have entailed a lifetime of work. All of
them together were to cost suffering, sorrow, even death.
The mission was launched: the life’s blood of many
would keep it afloat.

The story of Blanchet’s and Demers’ journey from
Quebec to Fort Vancouver was the story of every
westbound Hudson’s Bay brigade. Yet there was a dif-
ference. These men were not adventurers leaving all that
was dear to them to carve out a kingdom in the wilder-
ness. These were not fugitives from justice, nor were
they fleeing from their own consciences. Rather, they
were soldiers of Christ journeying to a land they knew
not. They were bound for the frontier to traffic in
heavenly goods. They meant to regain those who had
forgotten and gain those who had never known.

From the moment Blanchet stepped into the light bark
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canoe pushing off from Lachine, his missionary work had
begun. Along the way, both of the priests instructed
and baptized. Each stop was spent fully in exhorting
both Indian and white. The trail up rivers, across lakes,
through swamps, and over the towering Rockies brought
the missionaries to their chosen field, the Oregon Coun-
try. Then they traveled down the Columbia whose
treacherous waters claimed the lives of twelve com-
panions. Fort Colville, Fort Walla Walla, The Dalles,
each in its turn saw the men of God come and go, and
was the better for the visit. The six months’ journey
ended on November 24, 1838, with their safe arrival at
hospitable John McLoughlin’s Fort Vancouver. The
first answer to the pleadings for missionaries had come.
There were priests in the Oregon Country.

Blanchet and Demers had been traveling two hundred
and six days to cover the 5,325 miles separating Quebec
and Fort Vancouver. Bishop Provencher had kept his
promise to the people of the Willamette Valley. He had
done all he could “to grant them their request as soon
as possible.”” The Bishop had finished his letter with the
pious desire that the people pay a little more attention to
the great affair of their salvation. His desire was fulfilled,
and in 1836, when some reason had been given them for
hope, the settlers built a log church, seventy feet by
thirty feet. On January 6, 1839, the church was dedi-
cated to St. Paul.

Even greater manifestations of love and good will met
the priests on their first visit to Willamette. The men
separated from their wives until the unions could be
blessed. Sometimes this meant a whole year until proof
of a former wife’s death could come from Montreal:

And so great was their desire to have their wives and children in-
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structed, and to lose nothing of the instructions given, that they
brought them from home to live in tents around the church. The
men would not do less; those living the nearest came every day to
hear mass and passed the whole day at the church, returning home in
time to attend to their business and prevent the wasting of their
crops by their hired and slave Indians.28

The marvelous work accomplished by these two zeal-
ous laborers is matter for another story. The pastors and
sheep were of such dispositions that the future beauty of
this spot in the Lord’s vineyard could not but elicit
wonder.



CHAPTER I

Preliminary Reconnaissance by

Father De Smet

CARRIED AWAY BY THE FASCINATING NARRATIVE OF
these pioneer priests in the Oregon Country, it has been
easy to overlook a second Catholic answer to the call
from the Far West that was soon to come. As early as
1833, the venerable bishops who had gathered in the
Second Provincial Council of Baltimore had foreseen the
day of the westward movement with all its consequent
evils and blessings. ‘They desired that natives should have
spiritual care and should be befriended even if other
white men were dispossessing them. Hence did

. . . the Fathers judge that the welfare of the Indians, who are to be
settled, by the authority of the civil power, beyond the United States
and the above-mentioned Territories, and beyond the boundaries of
all dioceses heretofore erected, should be provided for by entrusting
their care to the Society of Jesus: wherefore they are led to petition
the Holy See that the Mission be committed to it.!

The Jesuits had their commission. Henceforth, the West
was their chosen mission field.

The Potawatomis at Council Bluffs received the minis-
trations of De Smet and other Jesuits for several years
before the founding of the Rocky Mountain Mission.
One gathers the impression from early accounts of De
Smet’s travels that Council Bluffs was considered more
or less as home, and this even after the mission had been



PRELIMINARY RECONNAISSANCE 9

closed. Council Bluffs was the last field of labor which
occupied the great De Smet before he set out for the
mountains. He had returned from among his Potawat-
omis and Sioux but a few short months when the long
years of patient entreaty by the Flathead Indians for a
missionary reached a happy fruition.

These Flatheads had fallen under the influence of two
Iroquois neophytes who had left their homeland on the
shores of the Great Lakes and, with twenty-two other
Warriors,

. . . had settled in the country between the Rocky Mountains and the
Pacific Ocean. That country is inhabited by infide] nations, and
especially by those the French call Téfes Plates. ‘They married there
and were incorporated into the Indian tribe. As they were well in-
structed in the Catholic religion, professed by the Iroquois—con-
verted by the early Fathers of your Society—they have continued to
practice it as much as it was in their power, and have taught it to
their wives and children. Their zeal goes even further: becoming
Apostles, they have sown the first seeds of Catholicity in the midst
of the infidel nations among whom they live. These precious seeds
begin already to bring forth fruit, for they have caused to spring in
the hearts of the Indians the desire of having Missionaties who would
teach them the divine law.2

This encouraging sketch Bishop Rosati of St. Louis sent
to Father John Roothan, General of the Society of Jesus,
as an appeal for Jesuit missionaries. Long years of suffer-
ing and death on the part of the natives had finally been
rewarded.

The efforts of these sincere people to gain their heart’s
desire is outlined in this same letter to Roothan:

Eight or nine years ago [c. 18317 some of the Flathead nation came
to St. Louis. The object of their journey was to ascertain if the
religion spoken of with so much praise by the twenty-four Iroquois
warriors was in reality such as was represented, and above all if the
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nations that have white skin (the name they have given to the
Europeans) had adopted and practiced it.?

These first messengers fell sick and died in St. Louis. Both
were baptized and given Christian burial.

Some years later [c. 1835] the Flathead tribe again sent one of the
Iroquois nation to St. Louis. There he came with two of his children,
who were instructed and baptized by the Fathers of the College. He
begged missionaries for his countrymen and departed with the hope
that one day the desire of this tribe would finally be fulfilled. .. .*

Old Ignace hoped for the diligently sought and eagerly
awaited blackgowns, but none came. Again in 1837, the
old Indian headed a third delegation which was never to
reach St. Louis. Five more lives were to be added to the
first two messengers who had died in St. Louis. The
tribes represented in this delegation of 1837 are not
certain. There may have been Old Ignace, three Flat-
heads, and one Nez Percé or perhaps three Flatheads, one
Iroquois, and one Snake.® What is important:

The party reached Ash Hollow [Nebraska], where they were at-
tacked by about three hundred Sioux warriors, and, after fighting for
three hours, killed some fifteen of them, when the Sioux, by means of
a French trader then among them, obtained a parley with Gray and
his traveling companions. . .. While the Frenchman was in conver-
sation with Gray, the treacherous Sioux made a rush upon the three
Flatheads, one Snake and one Iroquois Indian belonging to the party,
and killed them.®

The blood of this third delegation spilled on the sandy
wastes of the plains was soon to germinate the seed of
Christians.

The fourth expedition sent by the tribe (but only the
third to reach St. Louis) arrived in 1839. This time the
tribe sent
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. .. two Iroquois named Peter and Little Ignace (to distinguish him
from the other called Big Ignace) and commissioned them to make
still more persistent entreaties to obtain finally that of which they
had so great a need—a blackrobe to lead them to heaven.”

Of this fourth delegation Bishop Rosati writes:

.. . these savages, who speak French, have edified us by their truly
exemplary conduct and interested us by their conversations. The
Fathers of the College have heard their confessions and today they
approached the holy table at high mass in the Cathedral Church.
Afterwards 1 administered to them the sacrament of Confirmation
and in a sermon delivered after the ceremony I rejoiced with them
in their happiness and I gave them hope of having a priest soon.

They will depart tomorrow; one of them will carry the good news
promptly to the Flatheads; the other will spend the winter at the
mouth of Bear River, and in the spring he will continue his journey
with the missionary whom we will send them.®

Unless something unforeseen occurred, the Flatheads
were to have their missionary—"‘their blackrobe to lead
them to heaven.”

Before signing his name Bishop Rosati adds one more
story about these unusual Indians for whom he pleaded
so earnestly and effectively:

Of the twenty-four Iroquois who formerly emigrated from Canada,
only four are still living. Not only have they planted the faith in
those wild countries, but they have besides defended it against the
encroachments of the Protestant ministers, When these pretended
missionaries presented themselves among them, our good Catholics
refused to accept them. “These are not the priests about whom we
have spoken to you,” they would say to the Flatheads, “These are not
the long black-robed priests who have no wives, who say mass, who
carry the crucifix with them, etc.” For the love of God, my very
Reverend Father, do not abandon these souls.?

This impassioned prayer of the Bishop was to have its
answer.
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This letter of the prelate was probably the result of a
suggestion in a letter of Father Peter Verhaegen, Jesuit
Superior in Missouri. After mentioning the consolation
occasioned by the visit of the two Iroquois from the
mountains he adds:

They have come from so great a distance to beg for aid, which I
cannot give with our slender personnel. This circumstance, Monsei-
gneur, might furnish you an occasion for addressing to our Very Rev.
Father General a letter recommending to him the nations who dwell
on the banks of the Columbia and who were formerly evangelized by
our Fathers, whose memory they preserve.1?

That Rosati acted on this suggestion we have seen.
Father Verhaegen, also, wrote a personal appeal to the
General. Among other things he said:

What I had very often heard from others these good men corrobo-
rated, namely, that the Indians dwelling beyond the Rocky Moun-
tains are well affected towards our holy religion and could with little
trouble be brought within the bosom of the Church. Considering
the very great scarcity of priests among us I scarcely knew what to
answer. Finally, after weighing the matter carefully and asking the
opinion of the consultors, I promised them that next spring two
Fathers would undertake a journey to that distant region in order
to dwell for a space at least among those nations cultivated of old by
our Fathers and bring them the aid they so sorely need....I am
desirous therefore to know of your Paternity what he wishes done
by us on behalf of those poor creatures.}*

Whether or not the mission would be a permanent
Jesuit undertaking, Father Verhaegen left to the decision
of Father Roothan. That a priest would be sent to the
mountains, at least temporarily, he was determined.
Steps were taken toward the actual appointment of
muissionaries to the Flatheads. There were several volun-
teers in the vice-province of Missouri itself, to say
nothing of the willing workers who would respond to
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the appeal made for missionaries in various European
Jesuit communities.

To perform the important task of reconnoitering the
new Mission of the Mountains, Peter John De Smet,
lately of the Potawatomi mission at Council Bluffs, was
selected. De Smet was a native of Termonde, Belgium.
He and his twin sister, Colette, were born January 30,
1801. “His childhood days were spent at home, where
he grew up in an atmosphere of staunch Catholicism.”*?
He was educated in various schools in and near Ter-
monde and at the large boarding school in Biervelde,
which was conducted by the diocesan clergy of Ghent.
A year or two later De Smet entered the Junior Seminary
of St. Nicholas. A short time after this, we find him
enrolled in the college at Alost, in East Flanders. We
next met him in the Junior Seminary of Mechlin.
These academic wanderings corroborate the judgment
passed on De Smet by his brother: “He could not settle
down anywhere long.”*?

At Mechlin he met Father Charles Nerinckx, who was
to influence the whole future life of the young Peter De
Smet.’* De Smet succumbed to the vivid accounts of
missionary life with which Father Nerinckx regaled the
seminarians. He offered himself for the mission. To
cornplete the offering, De Smet would have to overcome
obstacles.

Since he had no money, and since he feared to ask his
father’s permission to set out for America, the necessary
funds were borrowed. De Smet left without telling his
father. This act he would regret in later life, as it caused
a prolonged estrangement between his father and

himself.*®
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To hasten the story, suffice it to say that he and his
eight companions reached Philadelphia safely on Sep-
tember 23, 1821. Six years later, on September 23,
1827, he had finished his studies and was ordained to the
priesthood. His first years as a priest were spent in a
school for Osage Indians. Upon the failure of this school,
he became a missionary at various times in Illinois, Iowa,
and Wisconsin. He became treasurer of St. Louis College
in 1832.

In September of the following year, he left St. Louis
to return to his native land. Poor health had been
plaguing him for some time, and the doctors had advised
his native air. As soon as he reached Paris, he began to
beg for his beloved mission in Missouri. His efforts were
well repaid in money and in practical gifts. All the
while his health had been declining, so much so that, at
his own request, he was released from his vows as a
Jesuit on March 31, 1835.

For two long years, oppressed though he was by poor
health, the Abbé De Smet begged, preached, and labored
for his former brothers in Christ. He was their agent
in securing contributions and loans for the struggling
missions. Yet, for all this, he was not happy. A feeling
of frustration and of self-reproach haunted him. He
would never be happy until he was working as a Jesuit
in the Missouri missions, where he felt God wanted him.

Thought became reality. By November 29, 1837, De
Smet was back at Florissant. He “was home again—at
his true home with the Jesuits on the American fron-
tier.”** Again he joyfully took up his work among the
Potawatomis at Council Bluffs. From this mission he was
called to take the Torch of Faith into the far western
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mountains. This was De Smet’s real vocation, for he
had cherished the hope that he would be chosen mis-
sionary to the Flatheads ever since meeting the Indians at
Council Bluffs, while they were en route to St. Louis.

By coincidence, he left Council Bluffs for St. Louis,
February 13, 1840. He undertook the trip, however,

... on business for our house at Council Bluffs and to obtain things
necessary for life and clothing—firmly resolving to return, as soon
as possible, to the dear Potawatomis.}?

De Smet’s letter continues:

The winter was extremely severe, during this short trip I suffered
much, sleeping under the open heavens for two nights, in three feet
of snow, wrapped only in two single blankets. I had my nose and one
cheek frozen, as they had been exposed to a piercing northeast wind.
The cold and the dampness, I suppose, caused the heavy congestion
in the chest, which plagued me during my trip; then, upon arriving
at the University, Rev. Fr. Verhaegen put me in the hands of a
doctor (and I have always had a strong prejudice against the
disciples of Aesculapius). 18

After recovering from this encounter with the blood-
letters, De Smet was ordered to make preparations for
his journey to the Rocky Mountains as soon as the
weather should permit.

I left St. Louis March 28, and arrived at Westport, April 11, in
time to fit out for the mountains. I have bought 4 horses and three
mules. The caravan, I presume, will leave on May 1 under the
command of Captain Dripps and Messrs. Frab and Ledger.!?

Here he was on the frontier of civilization, awaiting the
fur brigade that would take him to the long-neglected
tribes. This was a journey of exploration and recon-
naissance.
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I was sent by the Very Reverend Bishop and by my provincial to
assure ourselves of the dispositions of these savages and of the probable
success which could be expected by establishing a mission in their
midst. . .. 20

Commanded by his superiors, and with the sincerest
blessing of his bishop, De Smet left Westport (now
Kansas City) on April 30, 1840. The annual brigade of
the American Fur Company followed the Oregon Trail
as far as the Green River rendezvous, in what is present
southwestern Wyoming. They crossed the boundless
plains, past Chimney Rock:

On May 31 we camped two miles and 2 half from one of the most
remarkable curiosities of this savage region. It is a cone-shaped
eminence of not far from a league in circumference, gashed by many
ravines and standing upon a smooth plain. From the summit of
this hill rises a square shaft, thirty to forty feet through and 150 feet
high; the shape of this column has given it the name of the Chimney;
it is 175 yards above the plain, and may be seen from a distance of
thirty miles. The Chimney is composed of petrified clay, interspersed
with layers of white and grayish sandstone 2!

De Smet and his companions worked their way wearily
over the sandy wastes past the famous Independence
Rock about which the missionary writes:

... it is the first massive stone of this renowned chain of mountains
which divide North America, and which wayfarers call the backbone
of the universe. It is composed of granite. .. of a prodigious thick-
ness, and covers several miles of land; from crown to base it is
completely bare. It is the great register of the desert; the names of
all travelers who have passed one may read, written in rough charac-
ters; mine is among them in my capacity as the first priest to reach
this remote spot.22

The travelers continued beyond the frowning Rockies,
through South Pass, to their appointed rendezvous at
Green River.” De Smet’s letters are filled with descrip-
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tions of what he saw on this first stage of his journey.
Nothing escaped his notice. The scenery, plants, ani-
mals, and natives—each in turn came before his keen
eye to suffer comparison with what he had seen among
the Potawatomis.?*

Once arrived at the rendezvous he set to work imme-
diately:

On June 30, I met the escort sent by the Flatheads to serve as my
guide and guard. Our meeting was that of children who came to
meet a father whose return had been long awaited. In the same place
there were gathered a crowd of Indians from all the tribes, come to

this common meeting place to trade the produce of their primitive
labor.28

Here he met the Shoshones, or Snakes, who

... inhabit the southern part of the territory of Oregon, in the
vicinity of upper California. Their population of about 10,000 souls
is divided into several bands scattered here and there in the most
desolate country in all the region west of the mountains.?

At the rendezvous they gave a parade to greet the whites that were
there. Three hundred of their warriors came up in good order and
at full gallop into the midst of our camp. They were hideously
painted, armed with their clubs, and covered all over with feathers,
pearls, wolves’ tails, teeth and claws of animals, outlandish adorn-
ments, with which each one had decked himself out according to his
fancy. Those who had wounds received in war, and those who had
killed the enemies of their tribe, displayed their scars ostentatiously
and waved the scalps they had taken on the ends of poles, after the
manner of standards.2

'What must have been the thoughts of De Smet as he
watched this display! From his writings one could never
guess. The description of the rendezvous is narrated as
though the recorder was completely disinterested in what
he saw. Yet he was on the eve of plunging into the
country infested by these savage natives. He stayed some
days at the rendezvous to rest his horses and
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...to give good and salutary admonition to the Canadian hunters
who seemed to be in great need of it and to talk with the natives of
the different tribes.28

The day before proceeding on his journey with his
faithful Flatheads, De Smet celebrated Mass and
preached in French and English and to the Indians
through an interpreter:

On Sunday, the Sth of July, I had the consolation of celebrating the
holy sacrifice of mass sub dio [in the open air]. The altar was placed
on an elevation and surrounded with boughs and garlands of flowers;

I addressed the congregation in French and in English, and spoke also
by an interpreter to the Flatheads and Snake Indians.2?

It was a spectacle truly moving for the heart of a missionary to be-
hold an assembly composed of so many different tribes, and prostrat-
ing themselves with equal submission before the Sacred Host. The
nature of the congregation and the majesty of the desert concutrred to
render the Mass solemn. The Canadians sang hymns in French and
Latin, and the Indians in their mother tongue; all distinctions, all
tribal strifes disappeared before an universal sentiment—that of
Christian affection. Oh! truly it was a Catholic ceremony! This
place since has been called the Prairie of the Mass.3°

This meeting had been most consoling. The day fol-
lowing the memorable Mass, De Smet took the trail
again. This time he was going to the Flatheads—to those
for whom he had left St. Louis. The Flathead warriors
and ten Canadians, who wished to accompany De Smet
so they could practice their religion, took a northwest-
etly direction. They traveled up the Green River for
three days, then along the mountain trail into Jackson
Hole, through narrow defiles and along sheer cliffs until
they reached the main fork of the Snake River on July
10:

The mass of snow melted during the July heat had swollen this
torrent to a prodigious height. Its roaring waters rushed furiously
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down and whitened with their foam the great blocks of granite
which vainly disputed the passage with them.3!

The natives and Canadians swam the raging stream. For
the strange missionary they made a skin boat which three
Indians pushed ahead as they swam the river. The next
day they climbed a high mountain pass and traversed a
thick pine forest. Then down into Pierre’s Hole.** After
a day’s journey across this valley, they reached the camp
of the Flatheads and Pend d’Oreilles. The goal had been

attained:

The poles were already up for my lodge, and at my approach men,
women and children came all together to meet me and shake hands
and bid me welcome; the number of them was about 1600. The
elders wept with joy, while the young men expressed their satisfac-
tion by leaps and shouts of happiness.33

After his formal reception by the chief, Big Face, the
missionary spoke to all on religious matters. He ex-
plained the advantages of his mission and tried to impress
the need of settling permanently in some suitable place.
The plan of instruction which he intended to follow was
outlined. Finally this first day ended with evening pray-
ers and hymns.
There followed days of feverish activity:

At daybreak, each morning, the old chief was the first to rise;
then, astride his horse, he made the rounds of the camp to harangue
his people. . .. “Come,” he would cry, “courage, my children, open
your eyes. Turn your first thoughts and your first words to the
Great Spirit. Tell him that you love him and ask his mercy on you.
Courage, for the sun is about to appear, it is time for you to go to the
river to wash. Be at our Father’s lodge at the first sound of the bell;
while there be quiet; open your ears to hear and your heart to retain
all the words that he will speak to you.”3*
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As soon as all were ready, De Smet would ring the
bell for morning prayers. During the days he was in
their midst, their fervor never slackened. All eagerly
attended the prayers; even the sick had themselves car-
ried to the priest’s lodge. Four times daily, gatherings
for prayer and instruction were called. Avidly they
listened to the explanations of the Pafer, the Ave, the
Credo, the Acts of Faith, Hope, Charity, and Contri-
tion, the Ten Commandments of God. The day after
his arrival, De Smet translated these essential prayers into
the language of the Flatheads. Here, asin other instances,
he was helped by trusty interpreters. That he was very
successful may be surmised from the fact that the whole
tribe knew these prayers within ten days.

Before he had finished, Father De Smet had baptized
six hundred of the natives, including the two head chiefs
of the Flatheads and Pend d’Oreilles—both octogena-
rians:

. . . all ardently desired the same grace, and doubtless their dispositions
were excellent; but since the absence of missionaries would be for a
short time only, I thought it prudent to delay them until the follow-
ing year, that they might conceive a noble idea of the dignity of the
sacrament, and that they might prove in what estecem they hold the
indissolubility of the marriage bond, a thing unknown among the

Indian tribes of America, for they separate often on account of the
most frivolous reasons.38

Besides the instructions, De Smet was naturally study-
ing the tribe from all possible aspects that he might give a
true and trustworthy report on his return to St. Louis.
The one fault he could find in them was their gambling.
In a race or a “stick game” the Indians would stake
everything they possessed. Even this inveterate habit
was unanimously abolished once its opposition to Chris-

1 L] .
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If De Smet had found one thing to blame, he found
many things to praise:

They are scrupulously honest in their buying and selling; they have
never been accused of having committed a theft; everything that is
found is taken to the lodge of the chief, who cries the articles and
returns them to the owner. Slander is unknown even among the
women: lying is hateful to them beyond anything else. . . . Quarrels
and fits of rage are severely punished. No one suffers without his
brothers interesting themselves in his trouble and coming to his
succor; accordingly, they have no orphans among them. They are
polite, always of a jovial humor, very hospitable and helpful to one
another in their duties.38

These are by no means all the virtues of these natives
listed by De Smet. There are enough here, however, to
let us see the impression made on the missioner by this
unusual tribe. The report which would be carried back
to the East is not hard to foretell.

From Pierre’s Hole De Smet accompanied the camp as
it moved northwest by easy stages. On July 22, they
encamped at Henrys Lake and Red Rock Lake. The
former was a source of the Snake River; the latter, the
ultimate source of the Missouri. In an attempt to reach
the summit of a near-by peak, he climbed for six hours,
but in the end, he found himself exhausted and com-
pelled to give up his plan. While he rested, the intrepid
missionary let his thoughts go untrammeled:

The fathers of the company who are in the missionary service on the
banks of the Mississippi and its tributaries, from Council Bluffs to
the Gulf of Mexico, came to my mind. I wept with joy at the happy
memories that were aroused in my heart. I thanked the Lord that
be had deigned to favor the labor of his servants, scattered over this
vast vineyard, imploring at the same time his divine grace for all the
nations of Oregon, and in particular for the Flatheads and Pend
d’Oreilles. who had so recently and so heartily ranged themselves
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under the banner of Jesus Christ. I engraved upon a soft stone this
inscription in large letters: Sanctus Ignatius Patronus Montium. Die
Julii 23, 1840. 1 said a mass of thanksgiving at the foot of this
mountain, surrounded by my savages, who intoned chants to the
praise of God, and installed myself in the land in the name of our
boly founder. Let us implore his aid, that through his intercession
in heaven, this immense desert, which offers such great hopes, may
speedily be filled with worthy and unwearying laborers.37

A loyal son of Ignatius had placed a promising corner
of the vineyard under the fatherly protection of the
soldier-saint. Here De Smet would fight many battles,
but never unassisted.

The next day the camp moved on into present
Montana:

Until the 8th of August, we were still traveling through a great
variety of country. Now we would find ourselves in open, smiling
valleys, now in sterile lands beyond lofty mountains and narrow
defiles, sometimes in extensive high plains, profusely covered with
blocks and fragments of granite.38

After following the Beaverhead River through the
present Dillon, Montana, they reached, by August 10,
the Jefferson River. Leaving this camp, the band arrived
at the three forks of the Missouri on August 21. Here,
in the land of plenty, the Flatheads prepared to lay in
their winter food supply. The men fished and hunted,
while the women prepared each day’s kill. De Smet
stayed with them until August 27, the day he had set
for his departure.

The appointed day dawned. The seventeen braves and
three chiefs, selected to guard De Smet through the
country of the hostile Blackfoot and Crow Indians, were
ready:

Long before sunrise all the nation was assembled around my lodge; no
one spoke, but grief was painted on each face. The only thing I
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could say that seemed to console them was a formal promise of a
prompt return in the following spring, and of a reinforcement of
several missionaries. I performed the morning prayers amid the
weeping and sobs of those good savages. They drew from me despite
myself the tears that I would gladly have stifled for the moment.3®

De Smet appointed as spiritual head of the tribe a very
intelligent Indian. This man had been specially in-
structed and was to call the others together for the
morning and evening prayers. On Sundays, he was to
exhort the others and privately to baptize the dying,
and the children in case of necessity. Old Big Face
promised De Smet:

When the snows disappear from the valleys, after the winter, when
the grass begins to be green again, our hearts, so sad at present, will
begin to rejoice. As the grass grows higher, our joy will become
greater; but when the flowers appear, we will set out to come and
meet you. Farewell 40

The little band struck out on their perilous journey.
For two days their trail led up the Gallatin River and
then across to the Yellowstone. For several days they
traveled along the Yellowstone bottoms through the
country of the Crow Indians to the confluence of the
Big Horn River. Well into eastern Montana they fol-
lowed the Yellowstone; then they turned east and south-
east to cut across South Dakota to Fort Vermillion on
the Missouri River. From here they went by boat to
Council Bluffs, three hundred miles farther on. The
next stop was at Westport, whence they proceeded by
stagecoach to Independence, Missouri. On December
31, 1840, De Smet was safe among his colleagues in St.
Louis. Out of the jaws of peril and death he had returned
to report his readiness “to go back to that untended
vineyard of the Lord.”*
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Nine months had been spent by De Smet in his tour of
inspection. The reports he brought back were enthusi-
astic. There was no doubt in his mind that a mission
should be established in the mountains, nor was there the
shadow of anxiety as to its possible success:

On my arrival at St. Louis, I gave an account to my superior of my
journey and of the flattering prospects which the mission beyond the
Rocky Mountains held out.*?

The field was ripe for the harvest and at least one
harvester was certainly ready to garner the souls. But
there was not enough money for the outfit required by
the missionaries. The heart of the resolute priest was
crushed by the thought that his promise to the Flatheads
would have to go unredeemed and these souls be aban-
doned to paganism:

I would have desponded had I not already experienced the visible pro-
tection of the Almighty in the prosecution of this great work. My
confidence in him was unabated.*®

If the means were not at hand, De Smet would do
what he could to collect the needed money. He appealed
to Francis Patrick Kenrick, Bishop of Philadelphia. With
the latter’s permission, a public appeal was made and a
collection taken in the churches of the diocese:

. .« to the generous people of Philadelphia, who so liberally responded'
to the call of their pastors, I return my sincere thanks and will daily
beg the father of mercies to reward them with his choicest blessings.44

De Smet’s appeal to Bishop Blanc of New Orleans was
equally successful. He left New Orleans with $1,100 in
cash and six boxes of various useful articles. From Pitts-
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burgh and from Kentucky came generous donations.
The balance was supplied by St. Louis. At last, the
needed men and money were ready to redeem the promise
—there would be a2 Mission of the Mountains.



CHAPTER III

The Founding of St. Mary’s Mission
among the Flatheads

SooN AFTER DE SMET HAD RETURNED FROM HIS FIRST
trip to the Flatheads, Father Peter Verhaegen had chosen
Fathers Nicholas Point and Gregory Mengarini to be co-
founders with Father De Smet of the Flathead mission.
This appointment, on March 4, 1841, had preceded the
doubtful weeks spent in begging the needed money.
Once this last obstacle had been passed, preparations
were made for immediate departure.

On April 24, Fathers De Smet and Mengarini, and
Eysvogels (the last-named destined for Council Bluffs)
and Coadjutor Brothers Huet and Specht left St. Louis.
Seven days later they reached Westport, where they
were joined by Father Point and Brother William Clacs-
sens. On May 10, the party set out over the Oregon
Trail, on their way at last to found the mission of their
desires. Five days out on the trail, De Smet gave words
to the feelings of the little band, when he wrote:

Aided by the grace of God, supported by the Holy Sacrifices of our
Fathers and the good prayers of all our brethren, we shall brave every
obstacle to fly to the conquest of souls.*

Who were these men “flying to the conquest of souls”?
Father Nicholas Point was born in Rocroy in the
Ardennes, France. At this time he was forty-two.
Father Gregory Mengarini, twenty-nine, an Italian, had

26
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responded to the appeal for missionaries which had been
read in the various Jesuit communities in Rome. He was

. . . specially selected by the Father General himself for this mission
on account of his age, his virtues, his great facility for languages and
his knowledge of medicine and music; and the three lay-brothers,
two Belgians, William Claessens and Charles Huet, and one German,
Joseph Specht, of whom the first is a blacksmith, the second a car-
penter, and the third a tinner, or a sort of factotum.?

These were the men that were the foundation stones of
what has become a century-old apostolic edifice.

The little band with their pilot, Thomas Fitzpatrick,
famous scout and former partner of the Rocky Moun-
tain Fur Company, and five teamsters joined up with
the party of John Bidwell who was to become famous in
pioneer California.® In the combined group there were
seventy souls. They chose Fitzpatrick as guide for the
whole caravan.

The duties of the guide were very important: thus, the Captain at
early dawn gave the signal for rising and for departure, and once upon
the road he regulated the march and halting times; he also chose the
ground for camp and looked to the keeping of discipline.*

If one hoped to cross the great deserts and high moun-
tains, to traverse the land of countless hostile Indians,
care had to be taken. The missionary caravan was no
exception:

For greater security each owner of the animals tied them to stakes
planted in the ground at suitable intervals; the tethers used were long
enough to permit of the animals grazing with ease. From the first
moment that sleep reigned over the camp until the following day-
break each traveler in turn, even down to the priests, kept watch to
guard from any surprise of the enemy.®
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On they rolled without mishap. Once the party barely
avoided a pitched battle with a band of Cheyennes be-
cause one member of the caravan had been hasty in
trying to fight the Indians after they had taken his horse
and gun. Fitzpatrick saved what could have been the
end of all dreams and hopes. River fordings were always
anxious. About the crossing of the Platte River, Father

Point says:

..we had to use great precautions, particularly with the oxen,
which are much harder to manage than horses, whilst the first driver
goaded them on from his high seat, his subordinates on horseback at
either side, or on foot in the middle of the stream, shouted and
whipped them to make the team advance, and to prevent them from
turning aside. For greater safety, cords were stretched from the tops
of the wagons, and being drawn taut by vigorous arms, they helped
to keep things well balanced. The roaring of the waters, the bellow-
ing of the oxen, the neighing of the horses, the excited and ear-
splitting shouts of the drivers—all combined to make up the most
horrid din that I ever listened to; it was astonishing that we effccted
the passage almost without any mishap.%

Day after day they toiled ahead, and on August 1§
they reached Fort Hall in southern Idaho. Here De Smet
was to leave the caravan and journey with the vanguard
of the Flatheads whom he had met the preceding day. He
learned that the main camp of the Flatheads had awaited
his arrival from July 1 to July 16, but, because of a
shortage of provisions, had been forced to withdraw into
the mountains. The three natives were left to wait his
arrival as long as there was the least hope of his coming.

From these men and from Gabriel Prudhomme, who
had ridden ahead of all the others to meet De Smet on
the banks of Green River, the zealous priest learned the
year’s happenings among the tribe:
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They had prayed daily to obtain for me a happy journey and a
speedy return. Their brethren continued in the same good disposi-
tion; almost all, even children and old men, knew by heart the
prayers which I had taught them the preceding year.”

He learned further that

. . . the whole tribe had determined to fix upon some spot as a site for
a permanent village; that, with this in view, they had already chosen
two places which they believed to be suitable; that nothing but our
presence was required to confirm their determination. ...

Well might De Smet feel happy as he set out to join
the main body of the tribe. The little band traveled
north from Fort Hall until they reached the Beaver-
head River in southwestern Montana. Here they met the
rest of the tribe, who greeted De Smet warmly. The
combined group now moved over the Rockies and fol-
lowed the course of Deer Lodge Creek and Hell Gate
River. This latter they named St. Ignatius. They passed
the present site of Missoula, Montana, and went some
twenty-eight miles up the Bitter Root Valley. Their
journey ended September 24, 1841, the feast of Our Lady
of Mercy. Here would be established the first mission.

On the first Sunday in October [October 37, the feast of the Holy
Rosary, we took possession of the promised land by erecting a large
cross on the spot chosen for the first reduction, an event which I am
assured was foretold by a little girl 12 years old, who was baptized
and died during my absence.?

The beautiful death of this little Indian maiden was
described by Father De Smet in another letter. When
this girl realized she was dying, she begged so persistently
for baptism that Peter, the Iroquois, administered the
sacrament and gave her the name of Mary. Afterwards,
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. .. she spoke three times in testimony of her happiness: “Pray for me!
pray for me! pray for me!” Then she began to pray herself, and
then she sang a hymn in a stronger voice than any of those gathered
around. On the point of breathing her last, she cried out, “Oh, how
beautiful! I see Mary, my mother. My happiness is not on this
earth; only in heaven must I seek it. Listen to the Blackrobes because
they will speak the truth!” And immediately after she breathed her

last.10

After the cross had been erected, many of the Indians
remembered that the site of the first mission was the
spot whence Mary had departed to join her beautiful
Mother in heaven. For this reason there was a special
sacredness about their first house of prayer.

The missionaries, priests, and brothers soon set to work
to build a log cabin and church, and around these they
built a sort of fort protected by bastions. The ground
was already frozen and the trench for the foundations
had to be cut with axes. Trees had to be felled, trimmed,
and hauled to the spot destined for the building:

The walls of the buildings were of logs interlacing one another,
the cracks being filled with clay. The partitions between rooms were
of deer-skin. The roof was of saplings covered with straw and
earth. The windows were 2 x 1, and deerskin with the hair scraped
off supplied the place of glass.?

To reach this home the brave Religious had traveled for
four and a half months.

The translation of the prayers into Flathead was be-
gun immediately. This became no easy task since experi-
ence taught the missionaries that many words in Flat-
head had a far different connotation than their literal
English or French equivalents. In the early months of
the mission, confessions were heard through an interpret-
er. This was not so strange for the Indians, since they
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were accustomed to a form of public confession that had
been in vogue before the coming of the priests. )

There was a regular order of the day set down for
those living at the mission. Daybreak was rising time;
there followed morning prayers, Mass, and breakfast.
Then came an hour’s instruction, followed by work until
noon; catechism from two to half past three in the
afternoon, work until sunset, prayers, instruction, canti-
cles, etc. This order reads more like that of novices in
a religious house than of savages roaming the mountain
fastness. Yet from the early accounts one learns that
the tribe followed it without serious complaint.

For the Jesuits the days were filled with the study of
the language and the teaching of catechism. The method
ordinarily followed in teaching was to reduce the cate-
chism to question and answer form. These were com-
mitted to memory by the neophytes and on appointed
days “catechism bees” were held in the church, one con-
testant asking the questions of another. Failure to
answer naturally disqualified one from sharing the
prizes. These contests were limited to children under
thirteen, for in the children lay the future greatness of
the mission.

After Catechism on Sundays and holy days came sports. The peo-
ple collected together, and the Indian boys brought their bows and
arrows. Standing in their midst I [Father Mengarini] would throw
up in the air, sometimes a ball of cotton, sometimes a thin stick; and
the boys would shoot at it. To win a prize, the ball or stick had to
be pierced in its ascent; but no matter how swiftly I threw, the
arrows guided by unerring hands, flew swifter, and the ball would
be seen in mid air, pierced, as if by magic, by a dozen arrows.*?

This glimpse gives us an insight of the missionaries’
method of approach. They mixed the difficult with the
pleasant. For children it was play.



32 THE JESUITS IN OLD OREGON

For the adults, the Fathers made every effort to help
them become prosperous and successful farmers. It was
futile to hope to keep the Indians happy in one spot if
they could not find a reasonably easy living in that place.
For this reason, then, Father De Smet made the tiresome
journey to Fort Colville and back almost as soon as they
had reached St. Mary’s. He set out on October 28 for
the nearest Hudson’s Bay post. In spite of the lateness
of the season, he was determined to make the trip for
two reasons; first, they needed provisions for the winter,
seeds for the spring planting, tools for the savages who
were well disposed toward work, and cows and other
cattle for their future farms; second, he wanted to visit
the Kalispel and Pend d’Oreille tribes who usually
camped in this region during the winter. He was to be
successful on both scores:

After dinner next day [November 14], we went on to the fort
[Colville]. There we passed three days in repairing our saddles and
packing our provisions and seeds. Wherever one finds the gentlemen
of the Hudson Bay Company, one is sure of a good reception. They
do not stop with demonstrations of politeness and affability, they
anticipate your wishes in order to be of service to you.13

This friendly feeling between the missionaries and the
Hudson’s Bay men was one of those pleasant phases in an
otherwise rugged life.

Besides buying provisions, De Smet had been doing
other work:

During my journey, which lasted forty-two days, I baptized 190
persons, uf whom twenty-six were adults, sick or in extreme old age;
I preached to more than 2,000 Indians; who, thus evidently con~
ducted into my way by providence, will not, I trust, tarry long in
ranging themselves under the banner of Jesus Christ.14
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De Smet visited the Kalispels on his way to and from
Colville. His success had been even greater than we may
judge from his own summary, for the Kalispels were
glad to join the Flatheads in the buffalo hunt of that
winter simply to be near Father Point who traveled with
the hunters.

The tireless De Smet reached St. Mary’s on December
8. While he was away, the Fathers and Brothers had been
busy. Hence he could summarize the year’s work:

On Christmas day I added 150 new baptisms to those of the 3d of
December [60 persons], and thirty-two rehabilitations of marriages;
so that the Flatheads, some sooner and others later, but all, with very
few exceptions, had, in the space of three months, complied with
everything necessary to merit the glorious title of true children of
God.*8

The report needs no comment. The missionaries had
come far, but certainly not in vain.

The farming efforts were not to meet with such im-
mediate success. In fact, the winter journey of 1841 was
almost futile; if we judge from Father Mengarini’s
words, De Smet

... brought from Fort Colville, during the first year of our sojourn
among the Indians, seeds of various kinds from which we hoped to
reap a plentiful harvest. Our hopes, however, were not realized.
Chickens, hogs and cows were also brought, but only the last proved
to be a profitable investment.'®

These first years at St. Mary’s were to be the most
satisfying. Perhaps it was because it was the first ma-
terialization of a dream and had about it the warmth and
zest of every new undertaking. There were to be
troubles, and finally this first seed was to die—die while
its offspring went on living, increasing and multiplying.
But St. Mary’s always remains the first.
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For the moment we take up the story of events that
were to have much wider consequences.

This year at Fort Colville, being able to procure neither the pro-
visions, nor the implements, nor the clothing necessary for the needs
of our mission, I took the trail for Fort Vancouver, the great em-
porium of the honorable Hudson Bay Company. It is about a
thousand miles from our settlement.!?

How carelessly De Smet makes reference to this journey.
“It is about a thousand miles.” He was to see and do
much before he returned.

He visited the Kootenai Indians, instructing many and
baptizing a few. The Kalispels again received him joy-
fully. He spoke to them of creation, of God’s goodness,
of His mercy and forgiveness. Among the Coeur
d’Alenes he was greatly consoled and deeply impressed.
He instructed them and prayed, as was his habit. So
absorbed had they become that they begged to have
someone teach them their prayers while the priest was
absent. To enable himself to go, and yet remain, De
Smet had recourse to a very ingenious method:

After a long instruction on the most important truths of religion,
I collected around me all the little children, with the young boys and
girls; I chose two from among the latter, to whom I taught the Hail
Mary, assigning to each one his own particular part; then seven for
the Owur Father; ten others for the Commandments, and twelve for
the Apostles’ Creed: 'This method, which was my first trial of it,
succeeded admirably. I repeated to each one his part until he knew it
perfectly; I then made him repeat it five or six times. These little
Indians, forming a triangle, resembled a choir of angels, and recited
their prayers, to the great astonishment and satisfaction of the
savages, They continued in this manner morning and night, until
one of the chiefs learned all the prayers, which he then repeated in
public.18
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This short visit by the great mission organizer was the
seed of the second establishment in the mountains, as
we will see. Before he left for Fort Colville, De Smet
baptized the small children and the very old people.

He arrived at Fort Colville in the beginning of May.
The spring freshets had so softened the ground that to
reach Fort Vancouver overland was out of the question.
The Hudson’s Bay Company’s heavy canoes for the river
trip would not be finished until May 30. So the enforced
delay was spent working among the Kettle Falls Indians
who lived near the fort and in whose midst St. Paul’s
Mission was erected a few years later. These Indians

. .. were all very attentive in attending my instructions, and the old
as well as the young tried assiduously to learn their prayers. I
baptized all the younger children who had not received the sacrament
before, for M[onseigneur] Demers had already made two excursions
amongst them, with the most gratifying success.1®

The valiant soul-seeker crossed over the Columbia to
visit the Okinagans in present north-central Washing-
ton. By these people he was received with the “greatest
cordiality and joy.” Describing his labors De Smet re-
marks: “Many sick were presented to me for baptism, of
which rite they already knew the importance.”® As
usual, he instructed and exhorted anyone he found as
anxious to hear the word of God as the Coeur d’Alenes
had been. Before turning back to Fort Colville, he
baptized 106 children and some of the old people. This
short journey gave De Smet an excellent idea of the
dispositions of these different tribes, and his work among
them sets him down as the precursor of the various Jesuit
missions which one day would be established for each of
these nations.
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On May 30, Father De Smet embarked for Fort Van-
couver. The second day on the river the barge on which
he had been riding and all the crew except two were lost
is one of the Columbia’s treacherous whirlpools. Shortly
before the tragedy occurred De Smet had asked to be put
ashore; so at the time he was walking along the bank.
The remainder of the journey was without incident.
They stopped at Fort Okanogan and again at Fort Walla
Walla, where De Smet baptized some more children.

He arrived at Fort Vancouver on June 8. Here he met
Fathers Francis Norbert Blanchet and Modeste Demers.
De Smet sang High Mass at the mission on the Cowlitz.
They then met at Fort Vancouver

.. . to deliberate on the interests of the great mission of the Pacific
coast .. . all things being considered, the resolve was that the New
Caledonia mission should be attended before all, and that Father
De Smet should start for St. Louis and Belgium to bring temporal and
personal efficient means.?*

On June 30, De Smet and Demers started up the
Columbia on the returning barges. They parted at Fort
Walla Walla on July 11, Demers staying with the brigade
of the North, De Smet setting out overland for St.
Mary’s. En route he passed the country of the Spokanes
and Coeur d’Alenes, finally reaching St. Mary’s on July
27. He pushed on immediately to join the main camp of
the Flatheads who had left St. Mary’s to search for pro-
visions. By August 2 he was with them again, only to
leave on August 15 for St. Louis and Europe in the
interests of the mission. Little wonder that Father Men-
garini should say, “Fr. De Smet sometimes with us but
oftener away from us, visiting some distant tribe or
transacting our business at the forts.”*
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The trip to St. Louis need not detain us. Father De
Smet visited the Crow Indians while en route. He had
been with this tribe in 1840, when returning from his
first trip to the mountains. That time De Smet was
received with demonstrations of friendship and had
taken occasion to instruct the Crows in the essential
points of religion. During the second visit he relates:

I promised that a Blackgown should visit them, but on condition that
the chiefs would engage themselves to put a stop to the thievish
practices so common amongst them, and to oppose vigorously the
corrupt morals of their tribe.?®

Actually this promise was not fulfilled until many years
later when the Jesuits began the serious evangelization of
this quite degenerate and discouraging tribe.

De Smet continued down the Missouri by light canoe.
There were the usual narrow escapes, but by now these
were expected. He said Mass at St. Mary’s in St. Louis
on October 30. He was safely home.



CHAPTER IV

Early Jesuit Missions begond the
Rockies

SACRED HEART MISSION AMONG THE COEUR D’ALENES

WHILE FATHER MENGARINI AND TWO BROTHERS WERE
left at St. Mary’s in the Bitter Root, Father Point was
directed by Father De Smet to leave the Flathead buffalo
hunt and open the mission among the Coeur d’Alenes.
He traveled

...in the company of three chiefs and some others of that tribe.
Having reached the plain which is called Hell Gate, he sent off some
messengers to the distance of one day’s journcy from there in order to
obtain domestic animals for the new mission.

This accomplished, the little party pushed on:

After much stumbling of our horses, and upsctting of the baggage,
and after many a grave accident had been avoided by the protection
of Heaven, the little company at length reached the land of the
Coeur d’Alene, on Friday, November the 4th. Since the first Friday
of each month is set apart in a special manner to honor the Sacred
Heart, and since the mission we had come to found had been already
placed under Its powerful protection, it scarcely nced be said, that
our first duty on dismounting was to kneel down along with all those
who had come to meet us, in order to renew this consecration.?

So was born the mission of the Sacred Heart among the
Coeur d’Alenes. It was the second of the pioneer estab-
lishments in the Mission of the Mountains.

38
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Father De Smet had been favorably enough impressed
by the people to promise them a missionary, when mis-
sionaries were very scarce. Perhaps he grasped more fully
the possibilities of these primitive people, for certainly
Father Point was not particularly impressed by any su-
perabundant goodness displayed by his new charges.
Point found them, in general, a2 most repulsive lot, living
in squalor and filth. He described them as having

.. . squalid faces, unkempt hair, hands doing duty for comb, hand-
kerchief, knife, fork and spoon; in feeding, repulsive sounds were
emitted from the mouth, nose and windpipe. This external misery
feebled [feebly] imaged forth the pitiable state of their souls. For at
this date there still reigned amongst the benighted people idolatry
so debasing that they paid divine honors even to the vilest animals,
a moral abandonment which knew no check save caprice, a passion
for gambling so absorbing that it trenched even upon their time for
sleep, unmitigated sloth which nothing but the pangs of hunger could
make them shake off, and finally an habitual inclination to cheating,
gluttony and every mean vice: these are a portion of the spiritual
miseries in which the Coeur d’Alenes had been immersed until our
coming.?

This was hardly an encouraging field for labor. Noth-
ing daunted, Father Point set about the actual work of
founding the mission. If any permanent good was to be
accomplished, he needs must gather them into one spot,
since they were scattered in twenty-seven localities. Even
to collect them into one community in spite of the
opposition of medicine men would be a real task. Father
Point spent the first winter with the tribe at their fishing
camp at the head of the Spokane River, where the city
of Coeur d’Alene stands today. Meanwhile Brother
Huet, with some whites and Indians, was erecting the
buildings at the first site on the St. Joe River. The next
spring the church was built at the new mission.* The
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work did not go on smoothly, for there were terrible
habits and traditions to be wiped out. But the mission
did progress.

The work accomplished in the beginning may be best
set down by the one who directed it:

From the first day of meeting till the hour of dispersion, this is a
summary of what was done: the church was finished, the seed was
sown, each one planting his little field, while there was a public field
for the whole people. Religious exercises were as follows: the Angelus,
the Benedicite, thanksgiving, four or five canticles, examen of
conscience, the whole of the little catechism, and all this in addition
to the ordinary prayers which were learned by heart by a great many,
and everyone’s confession in preparation for the communion which
took place only at the end of the harvest.®

Under this order of things the tribe should have im-
proved. It did—and to an incredible degree. Religion
and morals swept upwards.

So rapidly did grace dominate their lives that Father
Point could say by the end of 1844 that, over a period of
four or five months, '

. . . there had not been committed to my knowledge in the village of
the Sacred Heart a single fault that could be styled grave, and
although there may have been trifling shortcomings, the greater part
of them have been so well repaired, that the public good has scarcely
been less advanced than if these things had not been coromitted. ...

Of all those who presented themselves for their first Communion
there was not one who was held unworthy of being admitted to it.
The majority of them might have been proposed as models to more
than one fervent Christian of civilization. What simplicity! What
charity! But above all, what faith in these poor children of the
forest!®

From this buoyant account one might think that the
conversion of the Coeur d’Alenes was a simple matter of



EARLY JESUIT MISSIONS BEYOND THE ROCKIES 41

a few weeks. Actually, it was not so easy, but was a
gradual process spanning a number of years. Still they
did come a long way in a comparatively short time.

Thus far Father Point had been carrying the whole
burden of the labor of this particularly difficult mission.
He was soon to have help. When Father De Smet reached
St. Louis in October, 1842, he immediately set out on
one of his begging tours through the eastern cities. By
the spring of 1843, he had collected sufficient money to
dispatch the second band of recruits. These included
Father Peter De Vos, former novice master at Florissant,
Missouri; Father Adrian Hoecken, destined to play a he-
roic role in these early years; and Brother Peter McGean,
whose name almost became a tradition in the building
up of the struggling mission. Father De Smet accompa-
nied the band as far as Westport before turning back to
St. Louis to prepare for his voyage to Europe in search of
men and money. The three recruits traveled over the
Oregon Trail as part of the famous “Immigration of
1843.” They arrived safely at St. Mary’s in the autumn
of that year.

While De Vos and his companions were toiling over
the Oregon Trail, Father De Smet had set sail for
Europe, June 7, 1843. Arrived there, he begged money
and appealed for volunteers. Four of those who had
responded to a previous appeal, sent out by Father Gen-
eral John Roothan, were sent to America immediately:
Fathers Joseph Joset, a Swiss; Peter Zerbinatti, a Neo-
politan; Tiberius Soderini, 2 Roman; and Brother Vin-
cent Magri, a native of Malta. On March 20, 1843, they
left Le Havre and arrived in St. Louis on May 18 after
a seven-day trip up the Mississippi from New Orleans.
As it was too late to prepare for the journey across the
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plains that year, they waited in St. Louis. On April 23
of the following year they left for their mountain homes.
They reached St. Mary’s on October 7, after a perilous
journey. They had hoped to meet De Smet at Green
River in Wyoming. De Smet’s failure to keep the ren-
dezvous, since he was at the time just arriving in lower
Oregon with more missionaries, made it necessary for
Father Zerbinatti and the others to attempt to reach
Fort Hall without a guide. Fortunately they met Young
Ignace, the faithful Flathead. When the party reached
Fort Hall and still Father De Smet had not appeared,
they were again forced to go on without a guide. This
time they turned north with real trepidation, for they
were going into the land of the Blackfeet, the deadly
enemies of the Flatheads. Thanks to God’s help they
completed the harrowing journey, thus bringing three
more permanent workers to the mission—only three,
since Father Soderini did not remain on the mission, but
returned East the next year.

A few weeks before Father Joset and his companions
reached St. Mary’s, Father De Smet had arrived in lower
Oregon with five more Jesuit missionaries. This group
had left Antwerp on January 9, 1844. Seven months
later, they arrived at Fort Vancouver. Fathers John
Nobili, who was to found Santa Clara University some
years later; Michael Accolti, the pillar of the California
mission; Anthony Ravalli, famous missionary doctor;
Louis Vercruysse, and Brother Francis Huysbrecht made
up this unusual group. The arrival of these men ended,
for two years, the stream of new recruits which had been
pouring into the mission. With most of the men now
present who were to have a part in the history of the
mission, the narrative may again be resumed.
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Father De Vos had arrived at St. Mary’s in the autumn
of 1843. There he met Father Point who had come from
Sacred Heart to get provisions and to consult Father De
Smet, whom he was expecting, about some difficulty with
the tribe which he had encountered. Father De Vos left
Father Point at St. Mary’s and, taking Father Mengarini,
set out immediately to visit the mission in question.

Upon his return, he sent Father Hoecken as superior.
Father Hoecken remained at his post from November,
1843, till September, 1844. This period was most un-
pleasant, as we learn from Father Joset. The trouble
began over a sack of potatoes purchased from the In-
dians. The seller tried to give the Father half measure
and for his pains was bluntly told by the priest, “You
keep the shirt (that was paid beforehand) and the po-
tatoes, t0o.”" The old chief who had made the bargain
was very vexed by his detection and summary dismissal.

Another incident was added. “Parents had agreed that
their children, then babies, would marry when of age.”®
It happened that a girl refused to carry out one of these
childhood betrothals. Father Hoecken naturally stood
for the liberty of marriage. When the girl finally chose
to marry the brother-in-law of an extremely unpopular
interpreter who had provoked the Indians countless
times, the pot began to boil over. It was rumored that
the natives intended to whip the priest. As a matter of
fact, they would probably have whipped the interpreter
rather than the Father; but such was the rumor. The
Indians, however, were soon brought to their senses by
the threatened suspension of the mission. Obviously
Father Hoecken could accomplish nothing under these
circumstances. Father Point was sent back to take up his
old post. Father Hoecken we will see doing important
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work in another spot. Under Father Point, the mission
progressed quietly until November, 1845, when he was
replaced by Father Joseph Joset—the apostle of the
Coeur d’Alenes. He had a special predilection for this
tribe and they in turn loved him as a father and a friend.

Father Joset had come with orders to move the mission.
Every year the spring floods covered the fields and made
the mission very difficult of access, even on horseback.
The mosquitoes were also a real problem. After a serious
encounter with the vicious pests, Brother Charles Huet
had been confined to his bed for three days with a high
fever. Men could only flee from such an enemy.

In the spring of 1846, the mission was moved to a spot
on the banks of the Coeur d’Alene River, ten miles from
the lake of that name. They “put up a provisional bark
chapel, bark barn, surrounded a field and put in wheat,
potatoes, oats, and built three log houses.””® This mission
was to become a landmark. Here was to be Ravalli’s
famous Mission Church, here peace treaties were to be
negotiated and signed, here was to be the headquarters
for Captain John Mullan’s surveying and construction
parties. Here was to be a haven for the thousands of
immigrants trekking over Mullan Road. These several
phases of the Coeur d’Alene mission we shall see.

ST. FRANCIS XAVIER’S MISSION IN OREGON

While the mission among the Coeur d’Alenes was
being pushed ahead in spite of difficulties, two other
foundations were begun. Father De Smet had rcached
lower Oregon on July 31, 1844, landing at Fort Van-
couver on August 3. With him were recruits for the
Mountain Missions and Sisters of Notre Dame de Namur
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to teach in Blanchet’s school at St. Paul’s on the Willam-
ette River. The party had to wait eight days for Blan-
chet, who had not received the letter telling of their
arrival. As soon as the Vicar-General should arrive, De
Smet was ready to set off to the Willamette to establish
a new Jesuit foundation in Oregon.

The history of this mission went back as far as 1841
when John McLoughlin had begged De Smet to found a

mission in Oregon:

... if one of you with one or two of the lay brothers could come to
assist Messrs. Blanchette and Demers till their reinforcement came
from Canada it would be an immense benefit to religion and the
only apology I can give for thus obttuding my opinion is that from
my long residence in the country I have a right to claim some
knowledge of it—and I am certain from your zeal in the cause you
only require information to act up to it if in your power.1?

A few months later De Smet made his long journey to
Fort Vancouver to buy provisions and tools. This was
the occasion for the consultation with Blanchet and
Demers, when

They assured [De Smet] that immense good might be done in the
extensive regions that border on the Pacific, if a greater number of
missionaries, with means at their command, were stationed in these
regions; and they urged me very strongly to obtain from my su-
periors some of our Fathers.!!

De Smet had returned to Oregon in 1844, determined
to establish a mother house for all the Jesuits in the Ore-
gon Country. This was to be headquarters for men and
supplies for all the missions of the interior and for the
proposed missions nearer the coast. With these plans in
mind, De Smet awaited Blanchet’s arrival at Fort Van-
couver:
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On the twelfth, after an eight day wait, Rev. Monscigneur Blan-
chet arrived; he had not received the letter which I had written to
him but as soon as the news of our arrival reached him, he hastened
to join us, accompanied by a goodly number of his flock. He had
journeyed one whole day and one night without stopping.!2

The newcomers were anxious to reach their new
homes on the Willamette. Blanchet therefore ordered
preparations made for the departure. After a touching
farewell to the good captain of the ship Infatigable
which had borne them safely to the mission, all em-
barked in the longboats which the Governor had put at
their disposal. Three of De Smet’s party “‘stayed at the
fort to arrange the freight and to separate what was to
be sent on to the mountains from that intended for the
Willamette.””*®

The little fleet of four canoes and one sloop wended
its way up the Willamette River until it reached the mis-
sion site. The weary Sisters rode the last five miles in a
cart. Two hours after arriving all were gathered in the
church “to adore and thank our divine Saviour, with a
solemn T'e Dewm, which was sung with keen emotion.”*

My first care [narrates De Smet] was to secek some convenient
locality where, according to the plan of our Very Reverend Father
General, 2 mother mission could be established. For this purpose I
made several unsuccessful excursions into the adjacent country. The
most eligible situations were already occupied.®

The difficulty was finally overcome by Blanchet’s offer-
ing such portions of the land belonging to St. Paul’s as
would fill the needs of the Jesuits.

Two miles from St. Paul’s they found an ideal spot.
There was a slight elevation gradually sloping downward
and forming a charming amphitheatre on the shore of a
beautiful lake. On the shores of Lake Ignatius was built
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the mother mission of St. Francis Xavier. The ground
was cleared and three wooden buildings under a single
ninety-foot roof were built as workshops for the brother
blacksmith, carpenter, etc. “Besides these buildings, a
house forty-five feet by thirty is now under construc-
tion. This will be two stories and will serve as the resi-
dence for the missionaries.”*®

De Smet considered things well enough begun so that
he might leave for the interior. A few days after his
departure on October 3, 1844, Father De Vos arrived
from Coeur d’Alene to assume charge of the new mission.
Fathers Accolti, Ravalli, and Vercruysse were the helpers
on this mission for the first months.

Father Ravalli rendered valuable service with his
medical skill, since there were several sick in every Indian
hut. Father Vercruysse worked among the Canadians
at Grand Prairie. Here he built a church, “the most
beautiful and the grandest in Willamette.”"" Father
Nobili worked among the whites and natives at Fort
Vancouver for some months before coming to St. Paul’s.
Father Accolti, along with the Fathers mentioned, de-
voted himself to the study of English. Father De Vos
was the only one of the priests who could speak English;
consequently, he worked zealously among the Americans.
So the winter months of 1844-45 passed. With the
coming of spring, these earnest workers were to be
separated and sent to several places. For supposed lack
of judgment in the management of affairs at St. Francis
Xavier’s, Father De Vos was moved to Oregon City in
May, 1845. Father Accolti became superior of St.
Francis Xavier’s, a place which he always ardently de-
fended. He had visions of its future greatness as a Jesuit
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college and novitiate. In this he was not alone, for
Father De Smet shared the same hopes.

Actually, however, St. Francis Xavier’s never fulfilled
any of these dreams. The farm was well kept at con-
siderable expense, but there was little return. The station
was too far from any of the other missions to be of any
use as 2 headquarters or forwarding station. After the
gold rush of ’49, when many Oregon settlers followed
the feverish stream southward, the mission, which had
never really been much, became less. St. Francis Xavier’s
turned more and more into a farming enterprise, with
scarcely any spiritual ministry involved. For this reason,
in 1852, Father Roothan ordered that it should be sold
as soon as practicable. It is only necessary to go ahead
a few years to complete the story of this unfortunate
establishment, for near the end of the fifties, this ill-
starred venture passed from the record of history.

To return to the story. Father De Vos had been
moved to Oregon City in May, 1845. As pastor in this
promising settlement he seems to have “come into his
own.” His efforts

- - . met with great success and his zeal was crowned by the reception
of a number of distinguished converts, among whom were Dr. J. E.
Long, Secretary of the Provisional Government [of Oregon], and
Peter H. Burnett, chief Justice of Oregon.!8

Besides his work in Oregon City, De Vos labored among
the Indian tribes living along the Lower Columbia and
made missionary excursions through the Willamette Val-
ley, and to Fort Vancouver. We will meet this aged
laborer again when we study the missions of the Upper
Columbia, whither he went in 1847.

What Father De Vos accomplished among the Ameri-
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cans, it might be said Father Vercruysse did for the
Canadians. The chapel at St. Louis, on French Prairie,
was built by him, as we saw, because he took pity on
these poor people who were forced to come so far to
fulfill their religious duties. What promised to be a
fruitful mission came to an inglorious end when a dis-
pute between pastor and parishioners arose over some
obscure matter. Father Vercruysse took up his new work
among the Kalispels at St. Ignatius’ Mission in 1848.

The educational work begun at St. Paul’s by the
diocesan clergy must be mentioned in the sketch of the
Jesuits. St. Joseph’s College, conceived and operated by
Father Langlois, had every reason to anticipate a glorious
future, as did the school of the Sisters of Notre Dame.
But these schools, as well as the missionary labors of the -
Jesuits, were to suffer irreparable decline by the dis-
covery of gold in California.

Thousands of people were rushing to the gold fields,
where there were practically no priests to minister to
them. The attraction of California gold was as effective
in Oregon as in the rest of the world. Its people were
flocking south, thus retarding, disrupting, and practi-
cally destroying all that had been accomplished. Those
responsible decided to send the much-needed priests
where the most apparent good could be done. It was
one of those very difficult decisions that must be made
by men opening up a new country without sufficient
means for the task. Oregon was abandoned! Men and
money from the Mountain Mission were diverted to the
boom towns of the South. By December 9, 1849, the
Jesuits, Accolti and Nobili, were laboring in California.
As they were preceded by the diocesan priests, Brouillet
and Langlois, so they were to be followed, in 1852, by
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the Sisters of Notre Dame. So consistently was this
policy pursued that there were but two missions left in
the mountains by the early 1860’s. St. Ignatius’ Mission
in Montana and Sacred Heart Mission among the Coeur
d’Alenes were the only two to survive this mode of pro-
cedure, so ruinous to the northern missions. The decision
was unfortunate, as viewed from our vantage point,
ninety years removed. In any case, it was a desperate
course adopted by men, hard pressed for help, to meet
the untoward problem.

ST. IGNATIUS’ MISSION AMONG THE KALISPELS

While the missionaries had been thus struggling to gain
a foothold in Oregon, events of more lasting significance
had been transpiring among the tribes of the Upper
Columbia. Here was founded the one Indian mission of
the Rocky Mountains which continues to our own day.
It has enjoyed ninety-six years of uninterrupted exist-
ence, not in the same locale, it is true, but among the
same people and under the same patron saint. St. Igna-
tius’ Mission of the Kalispels has this unique honor.

The seeds for the mission were planted in 1841 when
De Smet made his hurried journey to Fort Colville to buy
provisions for the embryonic St. Mary’s Mission and, as
he himself wrote, “to visit the Pend d’Oreilles.”™® The
same tribe had impressed him when he passed through
their country in 1842 on his way to Fort Vancouver.

When De Smet returned from Europe in August,
1844, determined to found the mother mission of St.
Francis Xavier on the Willamette, he summoned Father
De Vos to come from the Flathead mission that he might
assume charge of the new Oregon foundation. Before
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leaving for Oregon, De Vos sent Father Point back to
the Coeur d’Alene mission to replace Father Hoecken,
who had become estranged from his flock on account of
the purchase of the potatoes and the refusal of the
Indian maid to carry out a childhood betrothal. Hoecken
was ordered to meet Father De Vos in the country of the
Kalispels. Here they founded St. Michael’s Mission on
the banks of the Clark Fork River. This took place in
September, 1844.%

Father Hoecken began work immediately. When
Father De Smet arrived two months later, November 6,
the young missionary was full of praise for his new flock.
In proof of the good dispositions of the people, De Smet
quotes a letter of Father Hoecken:

The first thing which struck me on my arrival among them, was a
truly brotherly love and perfect union, which animated the whole
tribe and seemed to make them but one family. They manifest great
love, obedience and respect for their chiefs, and what is still more
admirable, they all, as the chiefs themselves declare, speak and desire
but one and the same thing. . . . Complaints, murmurings and back-
biting are here unknown; blasphemy has never been uttered by an
Indian: there are not even words in his language to express it.?!

From this certainly over-sanguine account one might
think that the only work the missionary had to perform
was the administration of baptism and the inculcation of
a supernatural attitude. There was more than that, for
these natives were cursed with the usual Indian vices.
Father Joset writes that when the mission was first
founded, the tribe ““was given over to superstitions of a
gross fetish toward the furies of the spirit of vengeance,
and to a double immorality, that of gambling, and that
of polygamy.”® There was work aplenty for the most
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zealous priest. ‘The saving feature of it all was the super-
abundant good will of the tribe.

Father De Smet had arrived on November 6 with the
intention of staying a short time. Actually he spent the
winter of 1844-45 with Father Hoecken because snow in
the mountains had made it impossible to reach St.
Mary’s. The two Fathers spent the winter at the In-
dians’ wintering camp on the Clark Fork, probably near
the present Albeni Falls, just east of Newport, Washing-

ton.

The place for wintering being determined, the first care of the
Indians was to erect the house of prayer. While the men cut down fir
trees, the women brought bark and mats to cover them. In two
days this humble house of the Lord was completed—humble and
poor indeed, but truly the bouse of prayer, to which pure and simple
souls repaired to offer to the great spirit their vows and the tribute
of their affections. Here the missionaries continued with care and
diligence their instructions preparatory to baptism.?

The great festival of Christmas, the day on which the little band
was to be added to the number of the true children of God, will
never be effaced from the memory of our good Indians. The manner
in which we celebrated midnight mass may give you an idea of our
festival. The signal for rising, which was to be given a few minutes
before midnight, was the firing of a pistol, announcing to the
Indians that the house of prayer would soon be open. This was
followed by a general discharge of guns in honor of the birth of the
Infant Savior, and 300 voices rose spontaneously from the midst of
the forest, and entoned in the language of the Pend d’Oreilles the
beautiful canticle: “De Dien puissant tout annonce la gloire.”—The
Almighty’s glory all things proclaim,”?

Many of the tribe were baptized, and at Benediction on
Christmas Day fifty couples renewed their marriage
vows. This beginning augured well for the future. This
was one mission which would not disappoint the hopes
and plans that had been centered on it.
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At the first possible opportunity, De Smet left the
Kalispels to go to the Flatheads. At St. Mary’s he spent
Easter of 1845. A few days later he returned to the
Kalispels to help Father Hoecken choose a better site for
the mission. The original location that had been selected
rather hastily by Father De Vos the preceding year
proved to be too low for the spring high water. Conse-
quently, Fathers De Smet and Hoecken, with some of
the chiefs, set about examining the country for a more
desirable spot.

‘We found a vast and beautiful prairie, three miles in extent, surround-
ed by cedar and pine, in the neighborhood of the cavern of New
Manresa and its quarries, and a fall of water more than 200 feet,
presenting every advantage for the erection of mills. I felled the first
tree, and after having taken all necessary measures to expedite the
work, I departed for Walla Walla, . . . 28

De Smet was bound for Fort Vancouver to get supplies
for the new mission whose name he had changed from St.
Michael’s to St. Ignatius’.

He had arrived again at St. Ignatius’ by the middle of
July, 1845. With the help of Brother McGean and two
half-breeds, eleven horses heavily laden with plows, pick-
axes, spades, scythes, and carpenter’s tools had been
brought safely from Willamette. This was De Smet’s
contribution to the new enterprise.

Meanwhile Father Hoecken had not been resting.
Since De Smet’s departure sometime in April until his
return in July, the little colony had built fourteen houses,
prepared material for the construction of a small church,
and enclosed a field of three hundred acres:

The whole village, men, women and children, had worked most
cheerfully I counted thirty head of horned cattle—the squaws had
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learned to milk the cows and to churn; they had a few hogs and
some domestic fowls.26

Spiritually the tribe had also taken great strides. Ascen-
sion Thursday, May 1, had seen the baptism of more than
one hundred adults. This brought the total of baptized
Christian Kalispels to more than four hundred. *“The
number of Christians had doubled since Christmas,
18447

They are all animated with fervor and zeal; they make use of the
hatchet and plow, being resolved to abandon an itinerant life for a
permanent abode.?8

Spiritually and morally the mission prospered from its
very inception. Man, however, has a soul and a body.
These Indians had lived from the hunt and fishery and
could hardly be happy if there was no food in their new
home. That such was true gradually became more and
more apparent. The beautiful meadow which lay below
the mission hill was clay beneath a few inches of loam.
The seeds rotted quickly and the soil itself was rapidly
exhausted. Spring floods ruined crops year after year.
The very first winter of 1845-46 was extremely severe;
snow was five feet deep and the temperature went as
low as forty below zero. The buildings were so make-
shift that they were of little help against the intense cold.
During the coldest spell all would gather around the fire
at mealtime and take food from the pot a little at a time
lest it be cold before being eaten. The long evenings
were spent in explanations and discussions of the Jesuit
rules. The days were occupied in caring for the cattle
and gathering fuel. And despite the hardships, nowhere
in the accounts is there a note of despair or discourage-
ment.
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This winter the Indians had a regular holiday, slaugh-
tering the game that had been trapped by the deep snow
and could not, therefore, escape the hunters. They killed
even when the meat and skin were useless. Two years
later they repeated this wanton destruction and lived to
rue their foolishness, for by then the game was almost
exterminated.

One story of this harrowing winter brings out vividly
the conditions in which the pioneers were living. When
Christmas approached, Brother Magri was asked if he
had thought of building a crib in the church. A crib,’
said Br[other], ‘your church, is it not a stable’?’*® The
snow stayed until April, but at last it melted, and in the
spring of 1846, the dauntless Indians set to work again.

Here we will leave St. Ignatius’—thriving in things
spiritual, struggling desperately for things temporal.
The second chapter of its history begins with its transfer
to western Montana some years later.

MISSIONARY STATIONS ALONG THE UPPER COLUMBIA
AND FRASER RIVERS

The year 1845 had a special place in the early history
of the mission. Not only was St. Ignatius’ founded, but
very many of these northern tribes were given a regular
opportunity to practice their religion by reason of the
stations which were established in their midst. The stories
of these new mission fields differ as much as the places
themselves. Here, in this part of the new mission, it was
a tale of brilliance, but of no permanence—there, it was
a matter of quiet, calm drudgery spanning many years
with just sufficient success to let the laborers keep heart.

Into the brilliant but fleeting class fell the work which
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Father John Nobili did in New Caledonia, in what is
today British Columbia. “In the month of June Father
Nobili, accompanied by a novice brother, left Willam-
ette to visit the tribes of New Caledonia.”*

Nobili and his companion, with three pack horses,
traveled the first three days with a Hudson’s Bay man as
guide. He then deserted the Father and his companion,
taking the missionary’s tent and provisions. Naturally
the two travelers got lost and hunger and thirst brought
them close to death. Two Indians from the Cascades,
whom Father Nobili had known at Fort Vancouver,
saved them. An owl which the Indians had